**IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF IOWA
NO. 17-1232**

**STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee**

vs.

**JEREMY M. WERNER,
Defendant-Appellant.**

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR IOWA COUNTY,
HONORABLE ANDREW B. CHAPPELL**

**DEFENDANT/APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR
ORAL ARGUMENT**

Brandon Brown
Gina Messamer
Parrish Kruidenier Dunn
Boles Gribble Gentry
Brown & Bergmann L.L.P.
2910 Grand Avenue
Des Moines, Iowa 50312
Telephone: (515) 284-5737
Facsimile: (515) 284-1704
Email:
bbrown@parrishlaw.com
gmessamer@parrishlaw.com

Peter Riley
Tom Riley Law Firm, P.L.C.
4040 First Avenue NE
P.O. Box 998
Cedar Rapids, Iowa 52406
Telephone: (319) 363-4040
Fax: (319) 363-9789

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. IDOT Officer Glade Acted beyond His Statutory Authority When He Stopped Mr. Werner for Speeding.

Iowa Code T. XIII, Ch. 238, § 4626 (1939)

Iowa Code § 80.22 (1946)

Iowa Code § 80.22 (2016)

Iowa Code § 321.1 (2016)

Iowa Code § 321.1 (1946)

Iowa Code § 321.2 (1946)

Iowa Code § 321.2 (1971)

Iowa Code § 321.2 (1975)

Iowa Code § 321.2 (2016)

Iowa Code § 321.477 (2016)

Iowa Code § 321.477 (1946)

Iowa Code § 321.492 (1946)

Iowa Code § 321.492 (2016)

Iowa Code § 321.476 (1946)

Iowa Code § 748.3 (1946)

Iowa Code § 801.4 (2016)

Iowa Code § 804.7 (2016)

H.F. 463, 87 G.A. (Iowa 2017)

47th G.A. 134 § 2, 14 (Iowa 1937)

48th G.A. 121 § 7 (Iowa 1939)

48th G.A. 120 §§ 4, 8, 95 (Iowa 1939)

49th G.A. 177 §§ 1, 2 (Iowa 1941)

50th G.A. 164 § 4 (Iowa 1943)

54th G.A. 458 § 2 (Iowa 1951)

54th G.A. 458 § 2 (Iowa 1951)

H.F. 458, 54th G.A. (Iowa 1951)

65th G.A. 1180 §§ 2, 27 (Iowa 1974)

65th G.A. 1180 §§ 101, 107 (Iowa 1974)

Merchants Motor Freight v. State Highway Comm'n, 239 Iowa 888 (1948)

State v. A-1 Disposal, 415 N.W.2d 595 (Iowa 1987)

Petition of Chapman, 890 N.W.2d 853 (Iowa 2017)

1990 Iowa Op. Att'y Gen. 100, 1990 WL 484921 (1990)

II. Iowa Code Chapter 804 Did Not Authorize IDOT Officer Glade's Actions.

U.S. Const., amend. IV
Iowa Const., art. I, § 8

Iowa Code § 80.22 (2016)
Iowa Code § 321.2 (2016)
Iowa Code § 321.433 (2016)
Iowa Code § 321.477 (2017)
Iowa Code § 804.7 (2016)
Iowa Code § 804.9 (2016)
Iowa Code § 804.24 (2016)

Petition of Chapman, 890 N.W.2d 853, 857 (Iowa 2017)
State v. Gaskins, 866 N.W.2d 1, 13 (Iowa 2015)
Star Equip., Ltd. v. State, Iowa Dep't of Transp., 843 N.W.2d 446 (Iowa 2014)
State v. Hellstern, 856 N.W.2d 355, 364 (Iowa 2014)
State v. Lukins, 846 N.W.2d 902, 911 (Iowa 2014)
State v. Walker, 804 N.W.2d 284, 296 (Iowa 2011)
Rife v. D.T. Corner, Inc., 641 N.W.2d 761, 770 (Iowa 2002)
State v. Dann, 591 N.W.2d 635, 638 (Iowa 1999)
State v. Kjos, 524 N.W.2d 195, 196 (Iowa 1995)
Martin v. Waterloo Cmty. Sch. Dist., 518 N.W.2d 381 (Iowa 1994)
State v. Lloyd, 513 N.W.2d 742, 745 (Iowa 1994)
State v. McAteer, 290 N.W.2d 924, 925 (Iowa 1980)
State v. Vietor, 261 N.W.2d 828, 832 (Iowa 1978)
Merchants Motor Freight v. State Highway Comm'n, 239 Iowa 888 (1948)
People v. Lahr, 147 Ill. 2d 379, 383 (1992)
People v. Williams, 829 N.E.2d 1203 (N.Y. 2005)
State v. Brown, 39 N.E.3d 496, 502 (Ohio 2015)

H.F. 463, 87 G.A. (Iowa 2017)
Representative Baudler, Iowa House of Representatives public comment on House File 473 at 05:19:38, 06:16:20 (March 27, 2017), available at <http://www.legis.state.ia.us/dashboard?view=video&chamber=H&clip=H20170327163935379&dt=2017-03-27&offset=1911&bill=HF%20463&status=i>

Senator Danielson, Iowa Senate public comment on House File 473 at 03:42:25, 03:48:30 (April 4, 2017), *available at* <http://www.legis.state.ia.us/dashboard?view=video&chamber=S&clip=s20170404144554820&dt=2017-04-04&offset=2739&bill=HF%20463&status=r>

Senator Johnson, Iowa Senate public comment on House File 473 at 03:36:55, 03:52:40 (April 4, 2017), *available at* <http://www.legis.state.ia.us/dashboard?view=video&chamber=S&clip=s20170404144554820&dt=2017-04-04&offset=2739&bill=HF%20463&status=r>

Representative Baudler, Iowa House of Representatives public comment on House File 473 at 06:51:55 (April 20, 2017), *available at* <http://www.legis.state.ia.us/dashboard?view=video&chamber=H&clip=H20170420184516016&dt=2017-04-20&offset=107&bill=HF%20463&status=r>

Senator Danielson, Iowa Senate public comment on House File 473 at 11:08:35 (April 21, 2017), *available at* <http://www.legis.state.ia.us/dashboard?view=video&chamber=S&clip=s20170421085655450&dt=2017-04-21&offset=7737&bill=HF%20463&status=r>

Representative Taylor, Iowa House of Representatives public comment on House File 473 at 05:17:10 (March 27, 2017), *available at* <http://www.legis.state.ia.us/dashboard?view=video&chamber=H&clip=H20170327163935379&dt=2017-03-27&offset=1911&bill=HF%20463&status=i>

Senator Breitbach, Iowa Senate public comment on House File 473 at 03:54:30 (April 4, 2017), *available at* <http://www.legis.state.ia.us/dashboard?view=video&chamber=S&clip=s20170404144554820&dt=2017-04-04&offset=2739&bill=HF%20463&status=r>

Iowa House of Representatives public comment on House File 473 at 06:50:00 (April 20, 2017), *available at* <http://www.legis.state.ia.us/dashboard?view=video&chamber=H&clip=H20170420184516016&dt=2017-04-20&offset=107&bill=HF%20463&status=r>

Amendment H-1206, *available at* <https://www.legis.iowa.gov/legislation/BillBook?ga=87&ba=H-1206>

Bill History for House File 463, *available at* <https://www.legis.iowa.gov/legislation/billTracking/billHistory?billName=HF%20463&ga=87>

2A Sutherland Statutory Construction § 48:4 (7th ed.)

ROUTING STATEMENT

The district court ruled in this case that IDOT employees possess the authority to enforce Iowa’s speed laws. This appeal should be retained by the Supreme Court because, for over a year, the issue of whether IDOT employees are allowed to stop noncommercial motorists for speeding has been confronting and dividing district courts across the state.¹ This case presents the first appeal on that issue. Whether IDOT officers are cabined by Iowa Code § 321.477 and allowed only to enforce “laws relating to the operating authority, registration, size, weight, and load of motor vehicles and trailers and registration of a motor carrier’s interstate transportation service with the department” is a substantial issue of first impression. The resolution of this issue will impact the validity of thousands of citations issued by IDOT employees. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c), (d).

Although the Iowa Supreme Court ruled in *Merchants Motor Freight v. State Highway Comm’n*, 239 Iowa 888 (1948) that IDOT employees’ authority to act as peace officers is limited by Iowa Code § 321.477, the IDOT now advances arguments for why *Merchants Motor* does not control the outcome of this case. The Iowa Supreme Court should retain this appeal

¹ See, e.g., Jason Clayworth, [Second judge says Iowa DOT can’t issue tickets](https://www.desmoinesregister.com/story/news/investigations/2017/03/01/second-judge-says-iowa-dot-cant-issue-tickets/98593988/), Des Moines Register (3/1/17), available at <https://www.desmoinesregister.com/story/news/investigations/2017/03/01/second-judge-says-iowa-dot-cant-issue-tickets/98593988/>.

to consider whether those arguments warrant deviating from the *Merchants Motor* holding. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(f).

CASE STATEMENT

On August 30, 2016, the State charged Mr. Werner with Operating a Motor Vehicle while License Revoked, in violation of Iowa Code § 321J.21. Mr. Werner filed a Motion to Suppress Evidence and Dismiss because his vehicle was stopped for speeding by an officer with the Iowa Department of Transportation's Motor Vehicle Enforcement Unit. (App. 17). The district court denied the motion, (App. 53), and Mr. Werner thereafter waived his right to a trial by jury and stipulated to a trial on the Minutes of Testimony. (App. 57). The district court ultimately found Mr. Werner guilty as charged and imposed a sentence of two days in jail, a \$1,000 fine, and applicable surcharges and costs. (App. 57; App. 62).

FACTS

On August 18, 2016, Ryan Glade, a Motor Vehicle Enforcement Officer (MVE) with the Iowa Department of Transportation (IDOT), was on patrol in Iowa County when he observed Mr. Werner traveling on Interstate 80 in a noncommercial vehicle. (App. 10, 53, 59; Supp. Trans. 4:17–5:3). IDOT Officer Glade was driving a white Chevrolet Tahoe bearing an IDOT

MVE insignia. (App. 19). IDOT Officer Glade used his vehicle’s LIDAR² equipment to measure Mr. Werner’s speed and determined Mr. Werner was traveling 72 mph in a 55 mph zone. (App. 59). IDOT Officer Glade pursued Mr. Werner’s vehicle and pulled him over. (App. 59). IDOT Officer Glade then “ran [Mr. Werner’s] driver’s license on MACH and with State Radio” and determined Mr. Werner’s driving privileges were revoked. (App. 22, 59). IDOT Officer Glade placed Mr. Werner under arrest and filed a Complaint against Mr. Werner for Operating a Motor Vehicle while License Revoked, in violation of Iowa Code § 321J.21.³

Mr. Werner filed a Motion to Suppress Evidence and Dismiss, citing *Merchants Motor Freight v. State Highway Comm’n*, 239 Iowa 888 (1948) for the proposition that the Iowa Code does not empower IDOT officers to enforce speed laws. (App. 19). Mr. Werner argued IDOT Officer Glade thus lacked authority to stop his vehicle for speeding. (App. 17). Because IDOT Officer Glade’s actions were in violation of the IDOT enabling statutes, Mr.

² LIDAR “is a surveying method that measures distance to a target by illuminating that target with a pulsed laser light, and measuring the reflected pulses with a sensor.” Lidar, <https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Lidar>.

³ IDOT Officer Glade also issued Mr. Werner a citation for speeding. (Iowa County Case No. STA0030721; *see also* Supp. Trans. 2:17–3:25). This speeding citation is scheduled for trial on June 5, 2018.

Werner asked the district court to suppress the evidence gathered as a result of the illegal stop and dismiss the prosecution. (App. 20).

In support of this argument, Mr. Werner provided the district court with a similar motion and ruling from *State v. Atzen*, Polk County Case No. STA0733477. (App. 37-41). In *Atzen*, IDOT MVE Officer Wittkowski, while driving an IDOT-issued vehicle bearing IDOT MVE insignia, stopped a noncommercial vehicle for speeding “based on his authority as a Department of Transportation peace officer.” (App. 26). The *Atzen* ruling recounted the IDOT officer’s testimony regarding the IDOT policy for stopping noncommercial vehicles:

Officer Wittkowski testified that it was his understanding that at the time he was hired, his authority to stop non-commercial vehicles for traffic violations was limited to traffic stops for reckless driving, operating while intoxicated, and for speeding violations in excess of 25 miles per hour over the posted speed limit. Officer Wittkowski further testified that a couple of years ago the Department of Transportation changed its internal, administrative policy to allow its motor vehicle enforcement officers to enforce all traffic laws, irrespective of the type of vehicle.

(12/20/16 Motion 10–11).

Mr. Atzen argued the evidence gathered by IDOT Officer Wittkowski must be suppressed lest Mr. Atzen’s right to due process, guaranteed by article 1, § 9 of the Iowa Constitution, and his right to be free of unreasonable searches and seizures, guaranteed by article I, § 8 of the Iowa

Constitution, be violated. (App. 38, 40). Mr. Atzen further asserted the appropriate remedy for a statutory violation is suppression. (App. 39-40). Mr. Werner likewise argued, “as noted in Atzen’s Motion to Suppress, evidence must be suppressed when [a] state agent violates statutory provisions.” (App. 20).

Applying *Merchants Motor*, the Polk County district court concluded in *Atzen* that the Iowa Code does not allow IDOT officers to enforce speeding laws and accordingly dismissed the speeding ticket issued by IDOT Officer Wittkowski. (App. 25-36). Mr. Werner asked the district court to adopt this same analysis: “Based upon the aforementioned facts, and giving weight to the Court’s recent Order in Atzen’s matter, Glade’s alleged traffic stop, and any evidence collected thereafter must be suppressed.” (App. 20).

In its resistance, the State correctly recognized the question presented as “whether DOT MVE officers acting as such are limited by statute in their traffic violation enforcement authority.” (App. 43). The State did not dispute that IDOT Officer Werner had been acting in his official capacity at the time he stopped Mr. Werner, but instead argued *Merchants Motor* had been abrogated by legislative amendments. (App. 45-46). The State pointed to Iowa Code §§ 801.4(11)(h), 321.492, and 321.1 as authority for IDOT

Officer Glade’s actions. (App. 45-46). The State alternatively argued IDOT Officer Glade possessed citizen’s arrest authority to stop Mr. Werner, even though he was acting as an IDOT employee at the time. (App. 50-51).

The district court held a hearing on the matter on March 6, 2017. At the hearing, Defense Counsel and the State alerted the district court to another district court ruling finding IDOT officers are not authorized to enforce speed restrictions.⁴ (Supp. Trans. 7:16–21, 8:9–14, 12:1–7). Defense Counsel further argued citizen’s arrest did not excuse IDOT Officer Glade’s actions:

[T]he *Merchants* case specifically talks about and rejects the argument that the DOT officer could have made a citizen’s arrest because they point out that would require filing . . . a citation in an area where they had not been authorized to file citations. And, in addition, if they were exercising that power as a citizen, an individual in a private vehicle would not be able to command somebody to pull over, only an individual who is vested with not only the appearance of authority but also lights, siren, et cetera.

(Supp. Trans. 12:17–13:1).

The district court concluded Iowa Code § 801.4, read in tandem with Iowa Code § 321.1(5), authorized IDOT Officer Glade to stop Mr. Werner for speeding. (App. 55). The district court further ruled, “even if Glade did

⁴ The parties referred to that case as “Roder” but the correct spelling is Roeder. *State v. Roeder*, Warren County Case No. STA0063067 (March 1, 2017 order dismissing speeding citation).

not have the authority as an IDOT officer to stop Werner's vehicle, his conduct still resulted in a valid citizen's arrest under Iowa Code §804.6." (App. 55). The district court accordingly denied Mr. Werner's Motion to Suppress Evidence and Dismiss.

After the district court denied his motion, Mr. Werner proceeded to a trial on the minutes and was found guilty as charged. (App. 57).

ARGUMENT

I. Preservation & Standard of Review.

Each of the following issues are preserved by Mr. Werner's Motion to Suppress Evidence and Dismiss. The Court reviews questions of statutory construction for corrections of errors at law. *State v. Iowa Dist. Court for Scott Cty.*, 889 N.W.2d 467, 470 (Iowa 2017).

II. IDOT Officer Glade Acted beyond His Statutory Authority When He Stopped Mr. Werner for Speeding.

The authority to enforce the laws of Iowa necessary must derive from the Iowa Code. This is no less true when speed restrictions are involved: "All Iowa rules and regulations governing motor traffic on the state highways are based upon statutes." *Merchants Motor*, 239 Iowa at 890. The IDOT itself is a "creature[] of statute" with authority to act only as authorized by statute. *Id.*

The district court concluded that IDOT officers have the statutory authority to enforce speed restrictions. The district court's ruling, however, is diametrically opposed to the Iowa Supreme Court's holding in *Merchants Motor*. In *Merchants Motor*, the Iowa Supreme Court explained that Chapter 321 does not confer authority on the IDOT to enforce statutes unrelated to the purposes delineated in Iowa Code § 321.477. Pursuant to Iowa Code § 321.477 (2016),⁵ the IDOT

may designate by resolution certain of its employees upon each of whom there is hereby conferred the authority of a peace officer to control and direct traffic and weigh vehicles, and to make arrests for violations of the motor vehicle laws *relating to the operating authority, registration, size, weight, and load of motor vehicles and trailers and registration of a motor carrier's interstate transportation service with the department.*

(Emphasis added). Because IDOT Officer Glade was acting outside the scope of Iowa Code § 321.477 when he stopped Mr. Werner, his exercise of authority was invalid.

1. Legislative and Judicial History.

Understanding the scope of the IDOT's statutory authority requires an examination of legislative history. When the IDOT was formed in 1974 to

⁵ The Iowa legislature amended Iowa Code § 321.477 effective May 11, 2017. This amendment gives IDOT employees authority to enforce all state laws. H.F. 463, 87 G.A. (Iowa 2017). Unless otherwise noted, this brief's citation to Iowa Code § 321.477 refers to the law as it existed on August 18, 2016, the date of Mr. Werner's stop.

manage transportation-related administrative functions, it was not created from whole cloth. Rather, pre-existing governmental divisions were reorganized and emerged consolidated as the IDOT. It thus is necessary to understand the authority of those precursor departments—and how the Iowa Supreme Court interpreted the relevant statutes governing those departments—in order to understand the modern-day statutory scheme. The following outlines the applicable statutes and traces the development of the law over time. Though the governing statutes have evolved since the time of *Merchants Motor*, none of those legislative developments have bestowed upon the IDOT any authority to enforce speed restrictions.

A. *1937: Motor Vehicle Department & Highway Safety Patrol Established*

In 1937, the Motor Vehicle Department, a predecessor to the IDOT, was created within the Secretary of State's office and split into two divisions: 1) the Division of Registration and 2) the Division of Highway Safety and Patrol. 47th G.A. 134 § 2, 14 (Iowa 1937). Thus, the legislature established Highway Safety Patrol under the Motor Vehicle Department's purview. *Id.* § 30. The Highway Safety Patrol Division was tasked with enforcing motor vehicle laws but was further empowered to arrest individuals who violated any law. *Id.* § 36.

B. 1939: Department of Public Safety Established and Given Exclusive Enforcement Authority

Then in 1939, the legislature created the Department of Public Safety (DPS) and centralized all of the state peace officers under that umbrella. 48th G.A. 120 (Iowa 1939) (codified at Iowa Code T. V, Ch. 67.1 (1939)). As part of that reorganization, the legislature moved the Motor Vehicle Department from under the Secretary of State and into the newly-created DPS. 48th G.A. 121 § 7 (Iowa 1939) (codified at Iowa Code T. XIII, Ch. 251.1, § 5000.02 (1939)).

At the same time, the legislature removed the Highway Safety Patrol Division from under the umbrella of the Motor Vehicle Department and located it within the DPS. 48th G.A. 120 § 4 (Iowa 1939) (codified at Iowa Code T. V, Ch. 67.1, § 1225.09 (1939)). The 1939 legislation further placed traffic enforcement under the DPS's control, independent of the Motor Vehicle Department. *See id.* § 8 (stating peace officer duties include enforcing “all laws relating to traffic on the public highways of the state, including those relating to the safe and legal operation of passenger cars, motorcycles, motor trucks and busses”).

Having centralized all of the state police powers under one department, the 1939 legislation explicitly forbid “[a]ll other departments and bureaus of the state . . . from employing special peace officers or

conferring upon regular employees, and policy powers to enforce provisions of the statutes, which are specifically reserved by this act to the [Department of Public Safety].” *Id.* § 95 (codified at Iowa Code T. V, Ch. 67.1, § 1225.26 (1939)).

C. 1941: Limited Police Power to State Highway Commission

A separate commission, the State Highway Commission, existed independent of the DPS and bore responsibility for constructing and maintaining Iowa’s roads. Iowa Code T. XIII, Ch. 238, § 4626 (1939) (describing duties of the State Highway Commission).

In 1941, the legislature adopted legislation to grant the State Highway Commission limited police powers. 49th G.A. 177 (Iowa 1941). The 1941 Act expanded the State Highway Commission’s authority by “confer[ing] the authority of peace officer on certain employees of the State Highway Commission in the enforcement of motor vehicle laws relating to the size, weight and load of motor vehicles.” *Id.* (introduction to Act). The legislature granted the State Highway Commission authority

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