IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

NO. 17-1232

STATE OF IOWA Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

JEREMY M. WERNER Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR IOWA COUNTY THE HONORABLE MITCHELL E. TURNER, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

DAVID S. GORHAM Special Assistant Attorney General (515) 239-1711 david.gorham@iowadot.us ROBIN G. FORMAKER Assistant Attorney General (515) 239-1465 robin.formaker@iowadot.us

Iowa Attorney General's Office 800 Lincoln Way, Ames, Iowa 50010 FAX (515) 239-1609

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE

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

⁵Werner's position is contradictory. Though he implies DOT may enforce laws involving commercial vehicles, if DOT is limited in enforcement solely to the offenses in section 321.477 (2016), DOT's officers would also lack the authority to

DPS, however, also employs staff engaged in the enforcement of matters encompassed by the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Assistance Program, including activities such as driver license checks, equipment inspection, log book inspections and vehicle registration checks. These activities include commercial vehicles and, therefore, also fall within the domain of DOT's officers under Iowa Code sections 321.476 and 321.477 (2016). DPS maintains ten full-time inspectors and approximately 200 part-time inspectors for these sorts of commercial vehicle matters. *See* <u>http://www.dps.state.ia.us/ISP/specialty/mcsap.shtml</u>

If Werner's position was taken to its extreme, does this mean the authorization in section 321.477 (2016) for DOT peace officers to enforce laws relating to size, weight and load is invalid because it, too, usurps an authority specifically reserved to DPS by the 1939 legislation? Obviously not, which is why these provisions must be interpreted *in pari materia*. DPS and DOT both work on commercial vehicle oversight; DPS and DOT both are involved in the enforcement of provisions in Iowa Code chapter 321. *See* Iowa Code §§ 80.22, 321.2(1), 321.2(2), 321.2(3), 321.3. The provisions involving DOT and DPS should be viewed in harmony so each provision is "afforded a field of operation." *See Northwestern Bell Tel. Co. v. Hawkeye State Tel. Co.*, 165 N.W.2d 771, 774 (Iowa 1969) (discussing the *in pari materia* doctrine).

stop a semi they witness going 100 miles per hour in a DOT road work zone.

Finally, Werner argues "*Lloyd* does not govern because *Merchants Motor Freight* does." Werner brief, p. 42. This is not an argument; it is a tautology. Werner's tautological prose persists when he asserts *Merchants Motor Freight* dealt with the "exact same (*sic*) issue facing this Court: a departmental policy to exceed the scope of authority granted by Iowa Code § 321.477." Werner contends *Lloyd* is "fact-specific" and does not arise from "any wrong-doing of an Iowa officer acting pursuant to departmental policy." Werner brief, p. 42.

Merchants Motor Freight held the highway commission employees did not have authority under then Iowa Code section 321.477 (1946) to enforce laws pertaining to registration. At the time of *Merchants Motor Freight*, Iowa Code section 321.477 (1946) did not specify "registration" among the offenses for which authority had been conferred. The Court rejected the highway commission's argument the word "control" in section 321.477 (1946) gave its employees authority over registration and licenses. 239 Iowa at 892, 32 N.W.2d at 775-76.

Merchants Motor Freight also deemed the citizen's arrest issue to be a question which could not be properly considered. But it was not because of some illegal policy. Rather, it was because the Court concluded the employees were acting "officially" and issuing summonses which someone in their individual capacity would not be permitted to do. 239 Iowa at 893, 32 N.W.2d at 776.

Speeding does not fall within the offenses itemized in section 321.477 (2016).

Otherwise, as even the Court in *Merchants Motor Freight* conceded, the highway commission officers would have had authority to act under the citizen's arrest law:

[T]he fact that the defendants are clothed with the authority of peace officers, does not prevent them from acting as individuals. *This no doubt is true*, but is not a question presented here for determination.

Id. (emphasis added).

As noted earlier, it was the status of the officers, official capacity versus individual capacity, that was critical to the *Merchants Motor Freight* analysis and its conclusion citizen arrest power was not implicated. That is why, at least in respect to the citizen's arrest issue, *Merchants Motor Freight* is no longer viable. When the question is whether a peace officer acting beyond the scope of "official" authority may act as a "private person" pursuant to Iowa Code section 804.9(1), *Lloyd* governs. Moreover, *Lloyd's* analysis has been subsequently cited with approval. *See Long v. Lauffer*, 797 N.W.2d 621 (Table), 2011 WL 222530, *6-8 (Iowa App. 2011) (approving *State v. Lloyd's* analysis concerning Iowa Code section 804.9 to uphold a citizen's arrest made by an off-duty Polk County deputy sheriff).

The previously cited Restatement comment is worth noting for an additional reason. Not only is it immaterial for citizen's arrest purposes whether the officer purports to act as a peace officer or as a private person, it is likewise immaterial whether the officer is acting within the "limits of his designation." Restatement (Second) of Torts § 121, comment d. That also addresses Werner's complaint about a policy to avoid statutory restrictions on power. The Restatement comment assumes the officer may be acting outside "the limits of his designation," but it does not undercut an otherwise valid citizen's arrest. The only relevant considerations under Iowa Code section 804.9(1) are: (1) whether a public offense was attempted or committed and (2) whether the public offense was attempted or committed in the presence of the person making the arrest. If those two items are satisfied, the arrest is valid under Iowa Code section 804.9(1).

Therefore, a lawful citizen's arrest by a peace officer does not involve the officer in "wrong-doing." Werner should not be permitted to project his lawlessness upon Officer Glade. The only "wrong-doing" here involved Werner's operation of his BMW at an excessive rate of speed in a road work zone when Werner knew he was not supposed to be driving because his license was revoked for an OWI test failure. Werner's position, which would exclude DOT peace officers from the authority conferred in Iowa Code section 804.9(1), should be rejected. The legislature did not exclude DOT's officers from the scope of section 804.9.

D. Werner's Failure to Fully Address the 1990 Iowa Attorney General's Opinion.

Werner cites to the Iowa Attorney General's opinion from 1990. Werner brief, pp. 29-30. He notes the attorney general opined DOT's officers do not have

"general arrest powers." But that is as far as Werner goes. Werner fails to note what else the attorney general said. Perhaps that is because the opinion, on two points pertinent to Werner's appeal, supports the position of the State.

(1) Attorney General says citizen's arrest is available to DOT's officers.

The attorney general did opine DOT peace officers do not have the general arrest powers conferred by Iowa Code section 804.7. It was the attorney general's opinion Iowa Code section 321.477 (1989) limited the arrest authority of DOT officers to the offenses itemized in that provision. 1990 WL 484921, *1-2. But the attorney general also noted the following in answer to a specific question regarding OWI enforcement:

Moreover, DOT peace officers may make arrests for OWI if, in the performance of their regular duties, the offense is committed or attempted in the officer's presence, pursuant to the citizen arrest powers of Iowa Code section 804.9 (1989). *See also* Iowa Code § 804.24 (1989) (arrests by private persons and disposition of prisoner); *State v. O'Kelly*, 211 N.W.2d 589, 595 (Iowa 1973), *cert. denied*, 417 U.S. 936, 94 S. Ct. 2652, 41 L.Ed.2d 240 (1974) (arrest by Nebraska police officer of a person in Iowa treated as an arrest by private person); *Merchants Motor Freight v. State Hwy. Com'n.*, 239 Iowa 888, 893, 32 N.W.2d 773, 776 (1948); 1988 Op. Att'y Gen. 66 (L) (an arrest by municipal police officer outside of jurisdiction, treated as an arrest by private person).

Id. at *3.

It is interesting to note the attorney general cited *Merchants Motor Freight* as authority on this point. Understandably so. As noted before, *Merchants Motor*

Freight conceded the highway commission employees would have been able to make a citizen's arrest, but held citizen arrest concepts were inapplicable to that case because the officers had acted "officially."

The attorney general's opinion, however, went one step further than *Merchants Motor Freight* on the citizen's arrest question. The attorney general agreed the officers could make citizen's arrests, but also deemed it immaterial if they did so in their official capacities. Note the attorney general's conclusion an arrest for OWI could be made by the officers "in the performance of their regular duties." Four years later in *State v. Lloyd*, 513 N.W.2d at 745, the propriety of the attorney general's advice found confirmation when the Court concluded it was immaterial in perfecting a citizen's arrest whether the officer purported to act officially or as a private citizen. The attorney general's view was also consistent with Restatement (Second) of Torts § 121, comment d discussed throughout this brief.

But was the attorney general's rationale limited only to OWI? Of course not. Nor could it be. Iowa Code section 804.9 is not limited to one offense. Iowa Code section 804.9(1) applies to any "public offense." The term "public offense" includes "that which is prohibited by statute and is punishable by fine or imprisonment." *See* Iowa Code § 701.2. *See also State v. Lloyd*, 513 N.W.2d at 745 ("Thus, the status of an offense as a felony or misdemeanor has no bearing on

the grant of authority in section 804.9."). The attorney general answered the specific question concerning OWI enforcement but his rationale regarding the citizen arrest powers in section 804.9 applies to any public offense.

Nor does the attorney general's endorsement of the citizen's arrest doctrine negate any other advice the attorney general imparted to DOT. The attorney general's conclusion DOT officers lacked "general" arrest authority under Iowa Code section 804.7 (1989) stands separately. Under the attorney general's rationale, when a peace officer lacks "general" arrest authorization there remains the separate authorization to act as a private person under the independent citizen arrest powers in section 804.9. Indeed, had the attorney general thought Iowa Code section 321.477 (1989) precluded the ability of DOT officers to make a citizen's arrest as Werner urges, there would have been no reason for the attorney general to take up section 804.9 in replying to the question concerning OWI enforcement. However, the attorney general concluded even when general arrest authority is absent, a peace officer still possesses all the power to arrest of a "private person." See also Iowa Code § 804.6 (arrest by warrant is to be made by a peace officer, but in all other cases arrest may be made by a peace officer or a "private person"). That means Iowa Code section 804.9(1) validates any arrest for any public offense if attempted or committed in the officer's presence.

(2) Officer Glade qualified as a peace officer under Iowa Code chapter 321J.

The attorney general's opinion also noted one other element which supports the State's position. The crime from which this appeal is taken involves a violation of Iowa Code section 321J.21 (2015). Officer Glade was a peace officer with DOT as defined in Iowa Code section 801.4(11)(h). DOT, Officer Glade's employer, is assessed the full cost "to provide the training course which is designed to meet the minimum basic training requirements for a law enforcement officer." Iowa Code § 80B.11B(2)(a). DOT is also a voting member of the Iowa law enforcement academy council. Iowa Code § 80B.6(1)(k). These provisions demonstrate DOT's peace officers meet basic levels of competency required of law enforcement officers in Iowa.

The attorney general in the 1990 opinion noted the definition of "Peace officer" codified in Iowa Code section 321J.1(7)(e) (1989) [codified today as Iowa Code § 321J.1(8)(e)]. The term "Peace officer" for purposes of Iowa Code chapter 321J includes any law enforcement officer who has satisfactorily completed an approved course relating to drunk driving enforcement "at the Iowa law enforcement academy or a law enforcement training program approved by the department of public safety." *See* Iowa Code § 321J.1(8)(e). The attorney general, therefore, expressed the view DOT officers with the requisite training are

52

separately empowered to enforce OWI violations under Iowa Code chapter 321J. 1990 WL 484921, *2-3.

Mr. Werner was charged with a violation of Iowa Code chapter 321J. In fact, his violation of Iowa Code section 321J.21 stemmed from the fact his driver's license had been revoked for an OWI test failure. App. pp. 5, 10, 22. Consequently, for this separate reason, Officer Glade was empowered to stop Mr. Werner's vehicle and charge him with *both* speeding and driving while his license was revoked. Mr. Werner had no right to be upon the roadway in the first place. His license had been revoked. Regardless of whatever prior knowledge Officer Glade may have had concerning the status of Werner's driver's license, Officer Glade was empowered to stop Werner's vehicle as a "statutory agent" of DOT "for purposes of administering the laws of this state pertaining to revocation in Iowa of an Iowa drivers (sic) license." See State v. Wagner, 359 N.W.2d 487, 490 (Iowa 1984) (recognizing law enforcement officers in respect to chapter 321J operate as agents of DOT for administering the laws relating to driver's license revocation). For this separate reason, the district court should be affirmed.

E. State v. A-1 Disposal Did Not Address Iowa Code section 804.9(1).

The other case relied upon by Werner for his contentions regarding Officer Glade's authority is *State v. A-1 Disposal*, 415 N.W.2d 595 (Iowa 1987). He asserts the decision "reaffirms" *Merchants Motor Freight*. Yet, *Merchants Motor*

Freight is never cited in *A-1 Disposal*. It is hard to reaffirm that which is not mentioned.

A-1 Disposal predates *State v. Lloyd* by seven years. The case, unlike Lloyd, never addressed issues under Iowa Code section 804.9(1) pertaining to a peace officer's authority as a "private person" to act upon traffic offenses committed in the officer's presence. *A-1 Disposal*, in fact, extended broad authority to DOT to make stops of trucks subject to regulation regardless of whether DOT implemented checkpoint protocols typically required of passenger cars. *See, e.g., State v. Hilleshiem*, 291 N.W.2d 314 (Iowa 1980). Specifically, *A-1 Disposal* recognized the authority of DOT pursuant to Iowa Code section 321.477 (1985) to conduct random stops of commercial vehicles at temporary checkpoints in daylight hours to weigh and inspect regulated carriers for registration, weight and load. 415 N.W.2d at 601. The case resolved a statutory conflict concerning whether reasonable cause was needed to stop the commercial vehicles for weight inspection.

Most significantly, *A-1 Disposal* never represented itself as closing the door in relation to other stops which might be permitted under other statutes. Note this caveat in the decision: "We defer until a later time decisions concerning validity of stops that may occur *in other factual and legal contexts than the ones present here.*" *Id.* (Emphasis added). Therefore, *A-1 Disposal* is not controlling within the context of a DOT peace officer who witnesses a vehicle speeding through a road work zone for which DOT has oversight responsibility.

II.

THE AMENDMENT TO IOWA CODE SECTION 321.477 (2016) WAS NOT ARGUED TO THE DISTRICT COURT. THEREFORE, ERROR WAS NOT PRESERVED. HOWEVER, EVEN IF THIS COURT CONSIDERS THE AMENDMENT, IT OFFERS PROOF VALIDATING THE STATE'S POSITION.

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